
 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 1�

A meeting of the Design Review Board was held on September 10, 2015 at 2:00 p.m. in 
the City Hall Planning Conference Room, 1911 Boundary Street. In attendance were 
Chairman Brian Franklin and board members Bob Albright, Dan Ahern and Chuck 
Rushing, and city staff, Lauren Kelly. Jane Frederick was absent. 
 
In accordance with the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, Section 30‐4‐80(d) as 
amended, all local media were duly notified of the time, date, place, and agenda of this 
meeting. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Mr. Franklin called the meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. 
 
MINUTES 
Mr. Albright made a motion, second by Chairman Franklin, to approve the minutes of 
the June 18, 2015 meeting as submitted. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
Harris Teeter at Lady’s Island, intersection of Sams Point Road and Sea Island Parkway, 
Identified as District R123, Tax Map 15, Parcel 587 and District R200, Tax Map 15, Parcel 
592  (15‐10 DRB.1) 
Applicant:  Ryan C. Lyle, Andrews Engineering, Inc. 
The applicant is requesting approval for a new grocery store with retail shops. 
 
Ms. Kelly said the applicant wants to build a 60,000 square foot grocery where the old 
Publix was; the existing building would be demolished and another parcel added. There 
would be an additional 4400 square foot liner building that faced Sea Island Parkway. 
The old Publix site is located within the city, and the wooded parcel behind the building 
is in unincorporated Beaufort County, so the county parcel would need to be annexed 
and combined with the Publix parcel. This site is on 7.7 acres.  
 
The applicants are in the due diligence phase, and no tree or topo surveys have been 
done yet. Ms. Kelly said that the applicants are seeking conceptual approval for the site 
development, and then will move forward with information that the Board needs to 
make decisions that are more concrete. The property is zoned Neighborhood 
Commercial and is in the Lady’s Island Village Center Design District.  In this design 
district, there is a 6’‐12’ front build‐to line from its primary frontage, which is Sea Island 
Parkway. Though it’s secondary, it would be ideal on Sams Point Road, too, if possible, 
she said. In regard to height limits, the maximum is 35’ at the street, and it can go up to 
50’ as it steps back from the build‐to line, typically at a 45‐degree angle. A useable 
entrance on Sea Island Parkway is required, Ms. Kelly said. 
 
Concerning this site, Ms. Kelly said the Civic Master Plan discusses it and recommends 
“creating a more connected and coherent pattern of circulation and reinforcing the 
streetscape with walkable development that defines a consistent street edge.” That, 
combined with the front build‐to line was “a lot of what was the driving force behind 
the way this plan has started to become organized,” Ms. Kelly said. 
 



 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 2�

In regard to vehicle circulation, curb cuts are being added and moved, Ms. Kelly said. A 
traffic impact analysis will be required. The existing, modified, and new curb cuts appear 
to provide much better vehicular access than what was there for the closed grocery.  
 
A 16’ one‐way slip road will be along Sea Island Parkway to provide access to the liner 
shops, similar to what the new Publix did, Ms. Kelly said. No plan is in place yet for 
pedestrian circulation, but there will need to be adequate connecting internal sidewalks. 
The parking was fine per the ordinance.  
 
In regard to the trees, Ms. Kelly said Ms. Frederick had reviewed the plan and 
commented that she wanted to know how the existing trees would be addressed with 
this plan, if at all. A formal tree survey will be required, as well as a certified arborist’s 
report for any grand trees to be removed or retained. City staff has discussed this, and 
Liza Hill had gone to the site and had done a quick but thorough analysis of the trees on‐
site, Ms. Kelly said. There are “some good trees in the buffer areas” and in proposed 
stormwater areas “that seem like they could be worked around, including some clusters 
of Live Oaks that are near the edge of building footprints.” The city’s position is that this 
is a redevelopment site, Ms. Kelly said, and any trees that can be saved should be, but 
doing so shouldn't compromise the goal of creating a walkable environment.  
 
An existing drainage pond on the southwest corner of the property will be repositioned, 
Ms. Kelly said; any drainage areas that are visible from the public right‐of‐way need to 
be treated as an amenity.  
 
No building elevations have been received, Ms. Kelly said, but in regard to the building 
placement on the site, it is in the Lady’s Island Village Center Design District, so it 
complies with the 6’‐12’ front build‐to line and will have the required usable entrance 
onto Sea Island Parkway. Long, unarticulated facades facing a public right‐of‐way, 
primary vehicle access point, or the parking area are not permitted, she said. The west 
façade along Sam’s Point Road will need particular attention and to be articulated to 
meet this requirement.  
 
Staff recommends conceptual approval of the site plan with the following conditions: 
 

 Tree wells and/or planting strips should be incorporated into the slip road 
section.  

 Design of the site will accommodate the tree survey as much as possible when 
it’s completed.  

 The site design will be coordinated with building mass, form, and detail to 
accommodate the architecture, including, but is not limited to, entrances, 
walkways, outdoor elements – such as seating areas – and equipment screening. 

 
Ryan Lyle, Andrews and Burgess, said that they “are proposing a 60,000 square foot 
building with 4400 square feet of retail along the frontage, along with ample parking 
and a slip road. The initial design concept for this site plan, Mr. Lyle said, was the Lady’s 
Island Village Center “desire to have the building be pushed up on the street.” The sides 
of the building fit the best in the configuration that they have it in; there was not 
another way to fit it. He showed truck and pedestrian traffic circulation. There will be 
“sidewalks on all sides to encourage the pedestrian connection into the site.” They 



 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 3�

haven’t yet gotten to a tree survey, but they will try to work around the tree save areas, 
Mr. Lyle said, and like Ms. Hill, they had noted the Live Oaks around Sam’s Point Way.  
 
In regard to meeting the city ordinance, they have proposed a 60,000 square foot 
grocery; however, they are still in the due diligence phase. They also have an alternate 
design, which came up the day they submitted the first plan to the city. That plan 
reduces the store size to 53,000 square feet and retains the liner retail shops, but is 
“more or less a redevelopment,” which “adds on to the existing Publix building.”  He 
said he’d like to present a copy of this alternate plan to the Board.  
 
Ted Barnes, a real estate developer from Charlotte, has been retained by Harris Teeter 
to help coordinate the due diligence and “outside activities with the architect, the 
engineer,” etc. Publix has the lease to the property “still in place,” Mr. Barnes said. After 
the store had been closed a certain period of time, the owner (who’s in Miami) has a 60‐
day window to terminate the lease. If he doesn’t terminate it, and they continue to pay 
rent, “the building sits the way it sits.” Harris Teeter signed a lease with that owner, 
after which “they had a 55‐day window . . . to figure out whether they could make it 
work for their use. On the second day, they called me, and I called Ryan.”  
 
The first footprint they were given was the one they brought to city staff, Mr. Barnes 
said. After they turned it into Ms. Kelly, and she scheduled the Design Review Board 
meeting “so we could get some feedback,” they “continued to work the plan.” They 
took a narrower footprint and flipped it, so it sits in the area where the Publix is and 
faces Sea Island Parkway. Their goal is to get feedback on the two plans and see what 
they need to work around, Mr. Barnes said. Week after next, “Harris Teeter has to 
decide whether they move forward or not.” 
 
Mr. Albright asked if they will still tear down the existing building in the alternative plan, 
and Mr. Barnes said yes. The existing Publix is 35,000 square feet, and Harris Teeter 
wants a minimum of 50,000 square feet. Mr. Albright said, “The driver should be the 
plan for the community.” Mr. Ahern said his interest is in stormwater, and he 
encouraged the developers to look at it as a resource. He suspects they will have an 
irrigation system, so he encouraged them to use wastewater run‐off for irrigation in 
either scenario for the building.  
 
Mr. Ahern said, in the Civic Master Plan, there are a lot of buildings at that intersection 
that are close to the street on all 4 corners. He said the new design submission “goes 
completely against that particular idea since the parking lot is in the same place it is 
today.” 
 
Mr. Rushing asked if staff had looked at the alternate plan and considered compliance. 
Ms. Kelly said whether or not it meets the ordinance depends on 50% of the frontage 
having the build‐to requirement. She said staff is not opposed to “having liner buildings 
and then the grocery store pushed back,” but they “would want to see more buildings at 
the street that screened the parking, and whatever happened behind there is fine.” Sea 
Island Parkway is the primary street, and Sams Point Road is the secondary street in the 
area. Ideally, they would like something like the Civic Master Plan shows, Ms. Kelly said, 
“but if we could pick one, I would say most of it should go on Sea Island Parkway.”  
 



 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 4�

Mr. Rushing said he has no conceptual issues with either plan, but “compliance with our 
guidelines and coming in line with the master plan would be critical.” It’s not as simple 
as tearing out the building and using the parking lot as it is. Something must be done 
along Sea Island Parkway, Mr. Rushing said, but he has no issue with the concept. 
 
Chairman Franklin asked Mr. Lyle to elaborate on “the dry bed pond on the adjacent 
lot.” Mr. Lyle said they will look at it in depth after they do the topography and tree 
surveys, and they will have a geo‐technical engineer do “borings and find out how good 
the ground is as far as percolating the water – any stormwater run‐off . . . Because it’s 
an existing depression with big trees in it, we may be able to route stormwater into it,” 
provided it doesn't spend a long time there. They may lose a retention pond, Chairman 
Franklin said, and he asked if that area was meant “to take some of the water.” Mr. Lyle 
showed two ponds “and a depression inside the existing Publix store,” and then the 
direction in which the water is piped out. “If that doesn't pan out, we may end up 
having underground detention; we’ll look at the stormwater reuse irrigation concept. 
The topography and soil types will dictate” what they do, Mr. Lyle concluded. 
 
Chairman Franklin commented that the images in the master plan are what he and the 
city would like to see. He would like to see something built on this site. He likes that the 
building is being pushed up. Instead of having the shops up front, he asked, “what if 
there’s no building use along Sams Point Road?” He asked if the shops “could address 
this road and help anchor the corner a little more.” Chairman Franklin said he “would 
even push you to see (if you could) get rid of the parallel parking here and move the 
building up to the 6’ setback.” He suggested that this would “tie more aesthetically into 
what we’re looking at in these images.” This would mean “a main entrance where 
somebody steps off the sidewalk and steps into the grocery store.” Because they have 
“such a broad area,” to work with, he said, they “can take it into the corner,” or shift 
parking and move some of the liner buildings, “it helps address street on both property 
lines and really helps make parking more internal,” Chairman Franklin said.  
 
Chairman Franklin reviewed images from the master plan as possible models for this 
site, and suggested that, architecturally, “instead of looking at it as a big box,” and by 
way of taking existing trees into consideration, “there may be a way to push and pull 
some of the footprint of the building, to save a few” of them. The Board wants “parking 
in the back, building in the front, if you can.” If they are looking to a means of 
addressing stormwater, and they have “a lot of room to potentially do that,” Chairman 
Franklin suggested that this is “an opportunity” with “a really primary corner location,” 
to make a “really gorgeous building” at “an architectural anchor point.” They can 
“address that corner” and “make an architectural statement” with “a layout that helps 
sets the tone for everything else that builds up along there.” From his point of view, 
Chairman Franklin said he likes that concept better than taking the existing footprint, 
based on the design guidelines the Board must follow. He’d like to see them “go all in.”  
 
Mr. Barnes said Harris Teeter would want to have a centralized entrance on “what they 
call their front.” Chairman Franklin asked if they have done an “L” shaped building and 
said they have the opportunity to have two facades. Mr. Barnes thinks either plan can 
accommodate the other points Chairman Franklin made.  
 
Ms. Kelly said, “pushing the building to the street without having some sort of frontage 



 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 5�

road” has been a challenge within the planning department in terms of how to address 
“major arterial roads where we know” traffic won’t be calmed, and there won’t be 
street parking “any time in our near future.” The idea is to “(set) them up so that at 
some point, if they do” eventually have street parking, “someone could just build over 
(the) top of where parking is now,” and until then “use a calmer road that has a more 
defined streetscape that people can walk and park in front of. I think it makes those 
shops more successful,” Ms. Kelly said, “and that is, in some ways, a concern on the new 
plan, if there isn’t that slip road in front of it, and there’s just retail facing it, no one is 
ever going to go in those front doors of those buildings.” West Ashley has a nice 
example of corner entrance buildings, she said, possibly at a Harris Teeter store, “where 
the entrances face the parking lot and the street.” 
 
Rahjeev Bhave, the architect, said for a grocery store, a square building with a single 
entrance works best. He doesn’t think Harris Teeter has an L‐shaped plan anywhere; “it 
just doesn't work from a circulation perspective inside.” They have done some corner 
entries, however. People are likely not to come back if they have to park more than 100 
– 150 feet from the store, Mr. Bhave said, and if they go in and “the circulation is a little 
bit too circuitous, it makes it a little bit more difficult for them to shop as well,” Mr. 
Bhave said. Another problem with facing Sea Island Parkway is that “architecturally, we 
can dress it up, but to put in a pedestrian entry (there) makes it almost impossible . . 
. from a circulation and layout perspective”: in a grocery store, most of the sales are in 
the front, and the stock, supplies, employee and prep areas are in the back. When 
there’s another entrance, he said, “it basically bifurcates the whole stock area,” which 
makes operations “almost impossible.” They can architecturally dress up a street 
frontage, Mr. Bhave said; it would be difficult to have two separate entrances, though. 
For security reasons, they could only have a second, “false” entrance with non‐
functional doors for appearances, Mr. Lyle said. 
 
Ms. Kelly asked how they felt about a plan to use a smaller building in order to have 
liner buildings wrapping the corner on Sams Point Road, or blocking the parking. 
Chairman Franklin said this is “such a huge site and an opportunity to put the parking in 
the back . . . to adhere to . . . the guidelines” for the village center, which is the driving 
force and can’t be ignored. If the slip road stays, they still need to address Sams Point 
Road somehow “to help tuck the parking in the back.” He likes that it’s been moved 
forward, but he would push them to go farther, based on the samples in the guidelines, 
and “see if you can go as far as we are looking for.”  
 
Mr. Barnes said the 53,000 square foot alternative footprint could “wrap the corner and 
get shops there.” There’s an issue with the loading dock, so he doesn’t know where an 
alternate entrance could be. The alternate plan makes it easier to do what Chairman 
Franklin is suggesting – wrapping the corners and still having a side that faces the street, 
“and still make parking fit, I believe.” Theoretically, he said, they can accommodate 
what Chairman Franklin is asking for “in either scenario.” Chairman Franklin said the 
guidelines require this, so if there’s “a plan with buildings that front on both sides, and 
the building is tucked back in, bring that in and let us take a look at that.” Mr. Barnes 
said they think they are addressing the corner of Sams Point Way and Sea Island 
Parkway, which “is informally controlled now by Harris Teeter, so it can be incorporated 
into this development.”   
 



 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 6�

Mr. Barnes said Harris Teeter wants to do a kiosk‐operated fuel center, but that’s not 
yet been incorporated into either plan. Beaufort, like some other communities, doesn’t 
allow those. Another engineer “does all of the fuel center stuff,” so they are working on 
how the city’s ordinance can accommodate what they want to do. That’s another 
element that they aren’t far enough along with to talk about yet, Mr. Barnes said. They 
“understand that the typical kiosk fuel center’s a no‐go.” That’s another reason they 
wanted to pick up a corner, he said, “for more flexibility.” 
 
 Mr. Lyle asked whether there is a preference or requirement per the master plan that 
the building be 2‐story; Harris Teeter prefers 1‐story. Ms. Kelly said it doesn't matter in 
this district.  
 
Mr. Bhave showed a drawing of a store in Summerville. He said they try to incorporate 
coastal and beach elements. It is a non‐prototypical elevation. They will develop “a 
version of this that matches the master plan,” and he asked if they have any “comments 
on this style.” Chairman Franklin said he could submit that in the package for Ms. 
Frederick to see. Mr. Barnes said they know this elevation “doesn't fit the layout that’s 
in the plan.”  
 
Mr. Rushing said, “Wrapping retail around will help with issues of breaking up the big, 
long wall on the Sams Point Road side.” Mr. Barnes agreed, citing “what Publix did, 
across the street.” Mr. Rushing said, speaking of what the new Publix had done, other 
than the building design, he suggested they give a lot of thought to propane tanks, such 
as where they will put them and how they’ll be screened. Mr. Bhave showed how that 
typically works at their stores; they “hide a lot of that stuff in the back” and present 
good architecture on the front and sides. Mr. Rushing said that’s an advantage of that 
style of building.  
 
Mr. Bhave said they could present a secondary entrance along the Sams Point Road. Mr. 
Rushing asked what the impact on parking would be if there were more retail on the 
street with the alternate plan. He asked, “Where would you picture moving parking to?” 
in the alternate plan. Mr. Lyle said they could get 140% of required parking on both 
plans, but that doesn't count tree preservation areas. Ms. Kelly said the Board could 
grant Harris Teeter a reduction of the required parking numbers because this plan is 
more open and allows walking. Mr. Barnes said that they have a traffic engineer who is 
meeting with SCDOT. He agreed that one entrance might need to go right in, right out. 
Ms. Kelly said the Board is able to reduce parking from 140%, but not increase it.  
 
Chairman Franklin asked if they were looking for an approval. Mr. Barnes said approval 
“would be so nebulous at this point.” What he knows now is enough to explain to Harris 
Teeter what they need to do to make this work. They have 10 days before “they have to 
pull the trigger.” Chairman Franklin said he would like to see them develop a concept 
and come back. He asked Mr. Barnes to explain to Harris Teeter, that the DRB is looking 
at the design guidelines and will be reviewing plans “through that frame.” Mr. Barnes 
said Harris Teeter might need to be a little more flexile in the store design. Ms. Kelly said 
the liner buildings satisfy the entrance criteria. Mr. Bhave said that what they had 
discussed today would make the center feel better, which is what they want, rather 
than a big box.  
 



 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 7�

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned 
at 2:53 p.m. 
 
Chairman Franklin reopened the meeting at 2:56 p.m. He said he had met with city 
council at a work session, and the main point of the discussion was that since he has 
been on the Design Review Board, they have followed the standards that have been put 
in place for development, not what they do and don’t “like.” It’s been a little ambiguous, 
BF told them, because there’s nothing in writing for the Board to follow, like there is for 
design review of the Historic District. As the form‐based code is being developed, it will 
provide a framework for the Design Review Board, BF said. Something in one area of 
town – like the Taco Bell – may have a completely different set of design standards than 
in another part of town, like this project they saw today. They need to be fair to 
applicants, but the Board has no document that they can refer to now. He expressed to 
council the effort to hold to a consistent standard, but when they have form‐based 
code, it will help tremendously. Chairman Franklin said form‐based code would give 
them the option to make suggestions, but the guesswork will be taken out of their work, 
because the code will require it. They will be less subjective, able to hold an applicant to 
something, and to allow a variance for a certain site condition, for example.  
 
Ms. Kelly said the idea of irrigation with run‐off can be included in the form‐based code 
– there are “shall,” “should,” and “may” categories. Mr. Ahern said they are finding out 
that at the headwaters, this “extra water” is key. Chairman Franklin said at the council 
meeting, he had expressed the need to have a frame of reference for the Design Review 
Board.  
 
Mr. Ahern asked where form‐based code is now. Ms. Kelly said at one point, it was 
being done concurrently with the Civic Master Plan, but that was not a good idea. The 
master plan was finished and adopted, but then the city lost its consultants at the same 
time, so the planning department is doing the form‐based code. They are “really close” 
with staff review, she said, and the code review board will be made up of council 
members and chairs and members of various city boards – people inherently familiar 
with the development process. This way, they will not have to explain how codes work, 
which will be more effective. They hope the process will take 4‐6 months. Ms. Kelly said 
for now, they are using design guidelines. The form‐based code will make design ideas 
“more approvable,” and they will not have to work out the fundamentals. Mr. Rushing 
said they would use the form‐based code more when they are doing variances. 
 
Mr. Ahern asked if proposals locally or from outside the area are more challenging. Ms. 
Kelly said that they always recommend local design professionals. Chairman Franklin 
agreed that locals are more familiar with things like plant material – the palate someone 
in Ohio is used to using is different than someone from the Lowcountry, for example. 
Cooter Ramsey, in his projects, “has the concept stuff down when he comes in,” 
Chairman Franklin said, but someone from elsewhere may come in and use a template 
and/or drawings that are not even specific to this site (e.g., the Meridian Assisted Living 



 

Design Review Board  
September 10, 2015 

  Page 8�

project.) 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned 
at 3:07 p.m. 


